1958

State of Utah v. Edward E. McHenry : Brief of Defendant and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Throughout the entire trial of this case the State was allowed, over the objection of the defendant (R. 17) to introduce evidence of a wholly independent and unrelated crime. The court in overruling the defendant's objection admitted the evidence for the purpose of identification only (R. 17-18).

Mr. Naylor described the defendant as being about 5'10" tall, weighing around 160 pounds, with a little different talk than most fellows and with a blood spot in the corner of his right eye (R. 16). Even though he had given such a vivid description of the defendant, the court, over the objection of the defendant, permitted him to testify concerning a previous robbery on the 11th day of February, 1957 (R. 18). The court permitted this evidence for the purpose of identification only (R. 17).

The testimony of Mr. Naylor concerning the crime of February 11th did not show any connection between

that crime and the one which the defendant was being tried for, and did in no way legally identify the defendant. The evidence merely shows that Mr. Naylor was robbed on February 11th by two persons dressed similarly. During the robbery of February 11th the assailants approached their victim outside of the store, forced him to enter and attempted to force him to open the safe (R. 90-110). The robbery of February 16th was committed by two persons who gained entrance through the roof of the store (R. 13, 39).

Mr. Naylor claimed to be able to describe his assailant by reason of the observations made on the 16th day of February, 1957, from a line-up at the Police Station at noon on that day. He was able to pick out the defendant as one of his assailants. He identified the defendant by reason of a blood spot in his right eye and by reason of his voice and size (R. 21).

The entire testimony of one of the State's witnesses, Oliver Nickel, who was the produce clerk employed by the Safeway Store above mentioned, pertained to a robbery at the same store on the 11th day of February, 1957 (R. 90-110). From a casual observation of Mr. Nickel's testimony it becomes obvious that the same does not in any way add to the identification of the defendant. Mr. Naylor was permitted to so testify even though he was not present at the time the second robbery took place (R. 95-96). Mr. Naylor's first contact with the defendant was at noon on February 16th at the Police Station (R. 97-98). His testimony identified the defendant as being the person in the store on February 11th, but he did

not identify the defendant as being the person in the store on February 16th (R. 98).

A Mercury automobile containing a suitcase with two 22-calibre revolvers, both loaded, was found parked on Westminster Avenue just east of 4th East and approximately two blocks from the scene of the crime (R. 129-131, Exhibits 13 and 14). Over the objection of the defendant, Lyman S. Burton, one of the State's witnesses, was permitted to testify concerning the ownership of the automobile and its contents (R. 129-132). The only evidence offered as to the ownership of the automobile and its contents is the testimony of Officer Burton, which is as follows:

“Q. Did you make an investigation to determine the ownership of the car?

A. Well, it had temporary stickers on it. It had not had license plates yet. It was newly purchased and had temporary stickers on it. I read the name on those.

Q. Did the sticker show the registered owner?

A. It did.

Q. What was the name of the registered owner?
MR. WOOLLEY: Objected to as hearsay.

THE COURT: Overruled.

A. Edward McHenry.

Q. (Mr. Child) Did you gain access to the car?

A. I did.

Q. Did you find anything inside of it?

A. Yes, there was a sport coat.—

MR. WOOLLEY: We object to this line of questioning your Honor. It is irrelevant and immaterial, and has not been connected up with this case?

THE COURT: Objection overruled.

A. There was a sport coat, a pair of slacks, and in the back seat, on the floor, was a suitcase and then there were miscellaneous things in there, flashlight, and can openers, I do not recall.

Q. (Mr. Child) I will show you what has been marked as Exhibit 15 and ask you if you can identify that?

A. Yes, that is the suitcase which was on the back, on the floor of the back seat of the '57 Mercury.

Q. Did you open the suitcase at that time?

A. Not at that time. I did not open it until I took it to the police station.

Q. Did you then open it?

A. I did.

Q. What did you find inside, if anything?

A. Two 22-calibre revolvers, and both fully loaded, and I believe there was a picture, but I don't remember, in the little carrier in the suit case, where you put handkerchiefs and things like that. That was all that was in the suitcase."

Exhibits 13 and 14 were later admitted in evidence over the objection of the defendant (R. 133).

Following the defendant's arrest he was taken to the

interrogation office at the Police Station and interrogated by Officer Clore and Officer Fillis (R. 149-150). Officer Fillis was permitted to testify as to statements made by Officer Clore to him concerning the robbery and the apprehension of the defendant (R. 150-151). Officer Fillis made certain threatening statements to the defendant which caused the defendant to make admissions against his own will, which admissions Officer Fillis was permitted to testify to (R. 152-153, 160). In this connection the record is as follows:

Cross examination

"Q. Then I believe it was about then you stated, 'Look Buddy, we can do this two ways, the easy way or the hard way' and you took about two steps toward me and said, 'I would just as soon do it the hard way.'
Isn't that true?

A. I do not recall any threats being made whatsoever.

Q. Didn't Mr. Clore state in the preliminary that you said that?

A. What Mr. Clore testified to I cannot testify to."

Redirect examination

"Q. Were there any threats of any type used in the interrogation room against Mr. Edward McHenry, the defendant here, in your presence?

A. Not in my presence, no, sir.

Q. Is it possible you said, 'We can either do this the easy way or the hard way'?

A. It is very possible.

Q. If you said that, why did you say it?

A. In any type of work there is always an easier way to do things. The easy way in this instance would have been for him to tell us, as we asked, a particular question, so we could go out and check, rather than go out and bit by bit pull in witnesses and evidence, such as we had to do in this case."

This appeal is directed at the errors committed by the trial court in admitting evidence of a wholly independent and unrelated crime, in admitting evidence as to the ownership of a certain automobile and its contents, and in permitting testimony concerning statements allegedly made by the defendant under compulsion, all of which prejudiced the jury and denied defendant the right of a fair and impartial trial.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE COURT IMPROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE OF AN INDEPENDENT AND UNRELATED CRIME.

POINT II.

THE COURT IMPROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE CONCERNING A MERCURY AUTOMOBILE AND ITS CONTENTS.

POINT III.

STATEMENTS OF THE DEFENDANT MADE UNDER COMPELSION WERE ADMITTED IN EVIDENCE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT IMPROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE OF AN INDEPENDENT AND UNRELATED CRIME.

The court in admitting evidence of a robbery which allegedly occurred on the 11th day of February, 1957, at the same place as the crime of February 16, 1957, prejudiced the defendant and denied him the right to a fair and impartial trial. Evidence of independent and unrelated crimes is inadmissible and prejudicial. This rule is so universally recognized and so firmly established that citation of authorities to support the same is unnecessary. It is the product of that same humane and enlightened public spirit which has decreed that every person charged with the commission of a crime shall be protected by the presumption of innocence until he is proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. There are certain exceptions to this rule which state that evidence of another crime is competent to prove the specific crime charged when it tends to establish (1) motive, (2) intent, (3) the absence of mistake or accident, (4) a common scheme or plan embracing the commission of two or more crimes so related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the other, and (5) the identity of the person charged with the commission of the crime on trial.

The court in the instant case admitted evidence of other crimes for the purpose of establishing the identity of the accused. Such evidence has been admitted and found competent in almost every court in the United States, including our own in the case of *State v. Martin* (1917), 49 Utah 346, 164 P. 500. If, however, the identity has been otherwise clearly made out, such evidence should not be introduced, since, in such case, it could have no other effect than to prejudice the defendant by estab-

lishing his guilt of an independent crime. 42 *A.L.R.* 2d 862.

In order for evidence to be competent to prove identity the evidence of the independent crime must be connected as a part of a general and composite scheme or plan. Some connection between the crime must be shown to have existed in fact and in the mind of the actor uniting them for the accomplishment of a common purpose. This connection must be clearly apparent from the evidence. To allow the evidence otherwise would be to poison and prejudice the minds of the jurors by the use of irrelevant and dangerous deception. The admissibility of this type of evidence must rest on the facts in each case. There cannot be many cases where evidence of separate and distinct crimes will serve to legally identify the person who committed the crime as the same person who is guilty of another. It is much easier to believe in the guilt of an accused if he is suspected of committing other similar crimes. Evidence of independent crimes unnecessarily burdens the defendant in his attempt to overcome the charge against him. It gives opportunity for conviction upon prejudice instead of competent evidence. *Miller v. State* (1917), 13 Okl. Crim. 176, 163 P. 131, 43 *A.L.R.* 2d 868.

The evidence in the instant case shows that the defendant could be identified without the unnecessary introduction of evidence of an independent and unrelated crime. Mr. Naylor described the person who robbed him as being approximately five feet ten inches tall, weighing one hundred sixty pounds, with a voice different from

that of the general public and a blood spot in the corner of his right eye. He also picked the defendant out of the line-up at the Police Station at noon the day of the robbery for which the defendant is charged by reason of his size, voice and the blood spot in his eye. Even though he so ably identified the defendant he was permitted to testify to circumstances surrounding the crime of February 11th, a wholly independent and unrelated crime. In this connection his testimony was contradictory, uncertain and ambiguous. He was not sure that the defendant wore the same type of clothing when both robberies occurred (R. 17). He was not certain in his description of the gun used. In this connection the best answer he could give was: "I am not sure whether it was that gun." (R. 18).

Oliver Nickel was permitted to testify as to the robbery of the 11th day of February, 1957. He was permitted to so testify even though he was not present at the time of the robbery for which the defendant is charged. His testimony adds nothing to the identification of the accused and was highly prejudicial. The Utah case of *State v. Martin*, supra, can be distinguished from the instant case. In the *Martin* case the State was permitted to introduce evidence of certain letters written by the defendant for the purpose of identification. The contents of these letters clearly indicated that the person attempting the commission of the robbery was the same person who allegedly committed the robbery in question and that it was committed at the same place and upon the same person. In *Miller v. State*, supra, the court states:

“If the defendant wrote the letters in question, and the jury found that he did write them, then the contents of those letters clearly identify the defendant as the person who committed the robbery in question.”

The evidence offered concerning the crime of February 11th does not consist of statements, written or oral, by the defendant, and does not clearly identify the defendant as the person who committed the robbery in question.

Because the defendant could be identified without admitting evidence of a wholly unrelated and independent crime, and because the evidence admitted concerning this alleged independent and unrelated crime adds nothing to the identity of the accused, the evidence should have been excluded, the same being gravely prejudicial to the defendant.

POINT II.

THE COURT IMPROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE CONCERNING A MERCURY AUTOMOBILE AND ITS CONTENTS.

The State was permitted to introduce evidence concerning the ownership of a Mercury automobile and its contents over the objection of the defendant that the same was hearsay. The only evidence offered as to the ownership of the automobile was the testimony of Officer Burton who said that the name on the sticker was that of the defendant. This evidence is incompetent for the reason that it is hearsay and does not come within any of the exceptions to the hearsay rule and further, no proper foundation has been laid.

In the case of *Utah Farm Bureau Ins. Co. v. Chugg* (Utah) 315 P. 2d 277, the court admitted testimony about

the alcoholic content of a blood sample over the objection of the defendant that no sufficient foundation had been laid identifying the blood sample analyzed as being the blood of the defendant, Chugg. This court found that the admission of said evidence was error. The only evidence introduced was that of the medical technician at the hospital where Chugg was taken after the accident. The medical technician did not draw the sample from Chugg, nor was she present when it was taken. No attempt was made to introduce in evidence the actual specimen of blood allegedly taken from Chugg. The court stated:

“Clearly there is a lack of necessary evidence linking the sample analyzed with the blood sample drawn from Chugg and is therefore insufficient to identify the blood sample as being that of Chugg.”

In the instant case Officer Burton did not prepare the sticker found on the automobile, nor was he present when the same was prepared. There is no evidence as to who prepared the sticker or when the same was prepared. No attempt was made to introduce into evidence the sticker or any official record to show the actual ownership of the automobile in question. There is not sufficient evidence to link the automobile with the defendant.

The evidence offered consists of the testimony of an individual concerning what he read from a report of another, which report consisted of a sticker on an automobile containing the name of an individual. The statements were offered in evidence as proof of the matters asserted on the sticker, which is an untested assertion

made out of court and not subject to cross examination.

The evidence is prejudicial to the defendant because the automobile was found so close to the scene of the crime and in said automobile a suitcase was found containing two .22 caliber revolvers, both loaded (R. 131). The revolvers were later admitted in evidence as Exhibits 13 and 14. Again the minds of the jurors were poisoned by the admission of incompetent and prejudicial evidence.

POINT III.

STATEMENTS OF THE DEFENDANT MADE UNDER COMPULSION WERE ADMITTED IN EVIDENCE.

The court permitted Officer Fillis to testify concerning certain statements made by the defendant while being interrogated at the Police Station. In this connection the record is as follows:

“Q. Did you ask him any questions?

A. I asked him how many robberies he had committed? He stated ‘The one today, and the one last Monday.’

MR. WOOLLEY: Objected to on the ground there—that this is going to be in the nature of a confession, no proper foundation laid.

THE COURT: Overruled.

Q. (Mr. Child) Your answer was two robberies he had committed?

A. His answer was two, ‘The one today and the one last Monday.’

Q. Did you ask him specifically as to what robbery he meant as to last Monday?

A. I said, ‘The Safeway Store,’ and he said, ‘Yes.’

I asked him what other robberies he had committed, and he said, 'Just those two.'" (R. 151-152).

There was no proper foundation laid for the admission of this evidence, further the same was admitted even though the alleged statements were made under compulsion. Officer Fillis denied making any threats to the defendant while interrogating him, however, the record shows without doubt that threatening statements were made in an effort to induce the defendant to make a confession.

There are two facts which render a confession inadmissible as evidence. First, one obtained under compulsion, thus violating the defendant's constitutional privilege against self-incrimination, and second, one made under such circumstances rendering the confession untrustworthy. When a confession falls within either one of the above, the law excludes them whether they be direct confessions or other declarations tending to implicate a prisoner in the crime charged. *Miller v. State*, supra. By the admission of this evidence more poison was administered to the jury in an effort to black out justice and deny the defendant the right of a fair and impartial trial.

CONCLUSION

One of our basic fundamental rights under the Constitution of the United States and the State of Utah is that of a fair and impartial trial. Embodied within this constitutional right is the right to be tried for the crime

charged and none other, and to be convicted only upon competent evidence. The trial court in admitting evidence of a wholly unrelated and independent crime, and admitting hearsay evidence and evidence obtained through force and threat, erred. The sole effect of the evidence so admitted was to poison and prejudice the minds of the jurors against this defendant.

In the interest of substantial justice the conviction should be reversed.