1958

State of Utah v. Edward E. McHenry : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant, Edward E. McHenry, was convicted on the 29th day of April, 1957, of having committed the crime of robbery on the 16th day of February, 1957, in Salt Lake City. He was sentenced to the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate term.

There is no question that a robbery was committed on the day and at the place alleged. The evidence admitted indicated the following facts: That on the above mentioned

16th day of February, 1957, Wallace E. Naylor, General Manager of the Safeway Store, located at 17th South and 4th East, was robbed in the morning hours between 7:00 and 8:00 a. m. by two masked men, each carrying guns. Their apparent means of entry was through a hole cut in the roof. The questions raised on appeal go to the identification of the defendant and to the admission of certain evidence which it is alleged was prejudicial.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

IT WAS NOT ERROR FOR THE COURT TO ADMIT EVIDENCE OF A FORMER OFFENSE.

POINT II.

THE COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF THE OWNERSHIP OF THE MERCURY AUTOMOBILE.

POINT III.

IF THE EVIDENCE RELATING TO THE AUTOMOBILE WAS INADMISSIBLE, IT WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL TO THE SUBSTANTIVE RIGHTS OF THE DEFENDANT.

POINT IV.

IT WAS NOT ERROR TO ADMIT STATEMENTS OF THE DEFENDANT MADE TO POLICE OFFICERS.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

IT WAS NOT ERROR FOR THE COURT TO
ADMIT EVIDENCE OF A FORMER OFFENSE.

During the trial evidence of a previous crime committed at the same store five days earlier and under somewhat similar circumstances was admitted over objection. It was offered for the purpose of identifying the defendant.

In the law of evidence it is a general rule that evidence of a separate and independent crime is inadmissible to prove the guilt of a person on trial for a criminal offense. There are, however, several exceptions to the rule which are as uniformly accepted as the rule itself, one being that where evidence of a previous crime tends to aid in identifying the accused as the person who committed the crime in question, it is admissible even though it tends to show the guilt of the accused of the other crime for which he is not on trial. Wharton's Criminal Evidence, 12th Edition, Vol. Sec. 181.

The Utah Supreme Court in *State v. Martin*, (1917 Utah), 164 P. 500, a case cited in appellant's brief, recognized the above rule and the exception thereto. The case is not comparable factually and is therefore not analyzed here.

In overruling the defendant's objection to the admission of evidence of the previous offense, the trial judge said at page 17 of the trial record:

"THE COURT: The objection is overruled, but the Court will limit the effect of the evidence.

"Mr. Child has stated in his opening statement that the defendant was recognized by virtue of chance to observe him at the prior event, and for the purposes of identification the Court will let the evidence concerned an earlier robbery or entry into the store.

"But you are not to assume—that is, consider that evidence for any purpose other than identification of the person who entered on the 16th day of February. The defendant is not being tried for that event that happened the week before.

"But if that event assists somebody in identifying him, the theory is that he was in once and saw he was back again, and indicated he was the same man, and if that is all connected up you may consider it on the subject of identification."

The evidence as admitted at trial made direct connection in two instances between the offense of the 16th of February, the offense charged, and the previous offense of the 11th of February, 1957. The 11th of February was a Monday and the 16th a Saturday. Mr. Naylor, the robbery victim, testified as to admissions made to him by the defendant. See page 14 of the trial record. The witness after describing his arrival at the store and being accosted by the men, testified as follows:

"They said, 'This time we are back for everything.'"

And further, on the same page:

"* * * the one fellow said 'We want all the money this time.' He said, 'the last time you lied to us.'"

is testimony was significant as indicating that the men committing the robbery on the 16th of February had previously committed a robbery at the same place and in the presence of this witness. Later in the trial Officer Fillis testified as to statements which the accused had made to him:

"I asked him how many robberies he had committed. He stated 'The one today, and the one last Monday.'"

Defendant objected but was overruled.)

"A. His answer was two, 'the one today and the one last Monday.'"

"Q. Did you ask him specifically as to what robbery he meant as to last Monday?"

"A. I said, 'The Safeway store', and he said 'Yes.'"

On page 152 of the trial record. These admissions and concessions by the defendant, together with the similarity of the two offenses, constitute sufficient connection of the two offenses, and, therefore, furnish ground to admit evidence of the former offense for the purpose of identifying the defendant.

In the New York decision of *People v. Thau* (1916 New York), 113 N. E. 556, a problem similar to the one at hand was in issue. The defendant had been convicted of assault and evidence had been admitted at trial, over objection, that the defendant had, approximately two weeks previous, committed a crime at the same location as the offense charged. The defense had been an alibi. The court said at page 557:

"The defense of an alibi raised in the most direct manner possible an issue as to the identity of

the person who assaulted the complainant on the 15th of September. Any fact tending to show that the complainant was not mistaken in alleging that that person was the defendant was relevant to that issue. If the defendant to the knowledge of the complainant had visited his shop within a fortnight and had then criminally destroyed some of his goods, that fact would be likely so to impress the mind of the complainant as to lessen the probability that he was mistaken concerning the identity of his assailant on the 15th of September. * * *

In *People v. Stathas* (1934 Illinois), 190 N. E. 661, two defendants were convicted of having robbed a bank on August 18, 1932. Two bank employees testified that they had seen the defendants enter the bank. They were able to identify the defendants in the courtroom. Both employees further testified that they recognized the defendants as being the persons who robbed the bank on May 25, 1932, three months prior to the date of the offense charged. The identity of the defendants became a prime issue. The following is quoted from the court's opinion:

"It is urged that the testimony of the cashier and his brother tended to show a distinct, substantive offense committed by one or both of the defendants on May 25, and that the admission of such evidence was therefore improper and very prejudicial to the defendants' case. The general rule is that evidence of a distinct, unrelated crime is not admissible upon the trial of a defendant charged with the commission of a criminal offense. There is, however, an exception to this rule generally recognized by the courts and text-writers. Such exception is that, when the evidence offered tends to prove the identity of the person who committed the crime for which he is

on trial, or that he was present at and where the crime was committed, such evidence is competent. Such evidence is also proper to meet or rebut the defense of alibi. The rule deducible from the authorities is that, if such evidence is material and relevant, even though it tends to prove the perpetration of another unrelated and separate criminal offense on the part of a defendant, the court may properly receive such testimony. * * *

In *Warren v. State* (1941 Tenn.), 156 S. W. 2d 416, the court has stated the general rule regarding the admission of evidence of a previous offense. The case involved robbery where the issue of identification was raised. The court said:

“The general rule that evidence of separate and independent crimes is inadmissible to prove the guilt of a person upon trial for a criminal offense is subject to a well-defined exception with respect to proof of the identity of the accused. The broad rule is that where evidence tends to aid in identifying the accused as the person who committed the particular crime under investigation, it is admissible, in spite of the fact that it tends to show that the accused is guilty of other crimes for which he is not on trial. This rule is applied in a wide variety of cases, such as arson, burglary, homicide, larceny, liquor law violations, robbery, and many other instances. It is permissible, in those instances where evidence is admitted of the commission of another similar crime for the purpose of showing identity, for the accused to introduce in evidence the record of a court showing his trial and acquittal of such other crime.
* * *

See also *People v. Thompson* (1950 Ill.), 94 N. E. 2d 349. There is an extensive annotation at 42 A. L. R. 2d 862, re-

lating to the admissibility in robbery prosecutions of evidence of other robberies.

It is important to note that in this case the problem of identity was of great importance. The two individuals who committed the robbery wore masks during all of the time they were observed by the victim. Five days previous two masked persons had entered this same store and committed the crime of robbery. There were strong indications, above recited, that the same persons committed both crimes. It was therefore necessary that evidence of the previous crime be used for the purposes of identification.

Any misunderstanding on the part of the jury as to the effect of the evidence of the previous crime was cured by the court's statement in overruling the objection, above quoted, and in the court's Instruction No. 5E.

"You are instructed that evidence has been introduced in this case concerning a robbery alleged to have taken place on the 11th day of February, 1957, which was allegedly committed by the defendant, Edward E. McHenry, on the person and property of Wallace E. Naylor and Oliver M. Nickel. Said evidence is not to be considered by you as showing or tending to show that the defendant, Edward E. McHenry, robbed Wallace E. Naylor on the 16th day of February, 1957, but can only be used by you in determining the manner of the identification of the said Edward E. McHenry by the said Oliver M. Nickel and Wallace E. Naylor."

POINT II.

THE COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF THE OWNERSHIP OF THE MERCURY AUTOMOBILE.

In appellant's brief, Point 2, it is argued that evidence concerning the ownership of a Mercury automobile was in-

missible. Officer Burton, testifying for the state, related the circumstances of his discovering, shortly after the time of the robbery, a 1957 Mercury automobile, a short distance from the Safeway store. Over the objection that the evidence was hearsay, he was allowed to testify that the car had "temporary stickers" bearing the name of the defendant. See trial record, pages 129 and 130. The testimony is also related on pages 4 and 5 of appellant's brief.

Appellant asserts that this evidence was hearsay and therefore inadmissible. There are two approaches to this problem. The officer's testimony in relating that he saw the sticker and testifying as to the name thereon is not a violation of the hearsay rule. In Section 249, Wharton's Criminal Evidence, 12th Edition, it is stated:

"If the witness makes a statement on the basis of his own observations and not because he was told or informed by another person, his statement is not hearsay. Thus, it is not hearsay for the coroner who had performed the autopsy on the body to state whether there was any kind of tag on the body at the time he performed the autopsy, since the presence or absence of a tag was a fact which he would know of his own observations."

Accordingly, the evidence as to the sticker and name thereon may be admitted as a public record; therefore, an exception to the hearsay rule. The Officer testified that the car was a new 1957 model and that it had "temporary stickers." The temporary stickers he referred to are "temporary permits" provided for in the Utah Motor Vehicle Act, Section 41-1-18,

U. C. A. 1953, providing for the registration of a new automobile. Section 41-1-18 provides:

“It shall be unlawful for any person to drive or move or for an owner knowingly to permit to be driven or moved upon any highway any vehicle of a type required to be registered hereunder which is not registered or for which a certificate of title has not been issued or applied for, or for which the appropriate fee has not been paid when and as required hereunder, except that when application accompanied by proper fee has been made for registration and certificate of title for a vehicle it may be operated temporarily pending complete registration upon *displaying a temporary permit* duly verified, or other evidence of such application, or otherwise under rules and regulations promulgated by the commission.” (Emphasis added.)

A “temporary permit” required by the act to be displayed is in the nature of an official or public document. It is a general rule that a record made for public use is admissible in evidence as an exception to the hearsay evidence rule as evidence of the truth of the statements therein made. See Section 272, Wharton’s Criminal Evidence, 12th Edition.

It has frequently been held that names, tags, license numbers, etc., attached to property may be admitted as raising a presumption of ownership of the property. “Thus, the name or number marked on a shop, a ship, a railroad car, or other chattel or structure may be admissible to show that person’s ownership or control.” Section 150a, Wigmore on Evidence, 3rd Edition. It is a general rule that the fact that an automobile was registered in a person’s name, or that it bore his license plates at a certain time creates a

resumption that he was the owner. See Annotation in 103 . L. R. 138. In the Utah case, *Ferguson v. Reynolds* (1918), 176 P. 267, an action for injuries caused by an automobile striking the plaintiff. The court had before it the question of the ownership of the automobile that caused the injury. Evidence had been offered identifying the automobile by the license number it bore. The court commented on the existing Utah law requiring the owners of motor vehicles to register the same with the Secretary of State. The court said at page 267:

“Defendants’ counsel insist that the evidence is insufficient to sustain the verdict. In this connection, counsel contend that the applications made to and filed with the Secretary of State are not sufficient to establish the ownership of the car. We are unable to conceive why our statute was adopted if it was not for the purpose of furnishing at least prima facie evidence of the ownership of motor vehicles. * * * We think the courts generally hold that the applications and numbers or certificates issued under statutes like ours constitute prima facie evidence that the applicant is the owner of the vehicle which is identified in the application. Under our statute the number issued to one owner may not be transferred, nor, in case the vehicle is sold to another, can the number be transferred to the transferee. Nor can the number issued for one vehicle be transferred to another vehicle. If therefore the person making the application for registry is found using the vehicle described in the application and which bears the number issued by the Secretary of State for such vehicle, it certainly constitutes some substantial evidence that such person is the owner of the vehicle so described and which bears such

number. * * * In *Berry, Automobiles* (2d Ed) § 609, the author, in referring to this subject, says:

“‘Evidence that the automobile which caused the plaintiff’s injuries displayed a certain license number, and that this number was registered in the office of the Secretary of State in the defendant’s name as owner, makes out a prima facie case of ownership in the defendant.’”

Here the Mercury automobile was new and, therefore, had the temporary permits as required by statute. In such case it is only reasonable to apply the same rule as in situations where identification is made by way of a license number.

On this point appellant relies heavily on a recent Utah case, *Utah Farm Bureau Insurance Company v. Chugg* (Utah), 315 P. 2d 277. The facts of that case are clearly distinguishable from the circumstances relating to the identification of the automobile here. There the court was faced with the problem of whether a sample of blood taken to determine alcoholic content was the same blood taken from the defendant on a previous occasion. There the problem of identity was of extreme importance because of the likelihood of confusing one test tube of blood for another, and because the blood might be handled and examined by any number of persons within the hospital or laboratory. Here the “sticker” on the automobile is similar to a license plate on a car or a tag on luggage. When attached to property of this nature, the tag, plate, or sticker raises the presumption of ownership.

POINT III.

IF THE EVIDENCE RELATING TO THE AUTOMOBILE WAS INADMISSIBLE, IT WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL TO THE SUBSTANTIVE RIGHTS OF THE DEFENDANT.

Section 77-42-1, U. C. A. 1953, provides that the commission of error by the trial court will not be presumed to have resulted in prejudice, and that a cause will not be reversed for error unless that error effects the substantial rights of the party. See also, *State v. Neal* (1953), 262 P. 2d 756, and *State v. Justensen*, 99 P. 456. Even in the absence of testimony relating to the automobile, there was sufficient evidence to support the conviction of the defendant. This court has held that the erroneous admission of evidence does not call for reversal of the judgment where the guilt of the accused is otherwise satisfactorily proved. *State v. Cox*, 276 P. 166.

POINT IV.

IT WAS NOT ERROR TO ADMIT STATEMENTS OF THE DEFENDANT MADE TO POLICE OFFICERS.

As to this problem, it is necessary to relate from the record the circumstances of the interrogation. See Trial Record, pages 149 through 155. The crime was committed at about 7:30 to 8:00 in the morning and the defendant was apprehended almost immediately afterwards and taken directly to the interrogation office of the Police Department.

There, in the presence of two police officers, one of whom testified at the trial, he was questioned. The police officer witness testified that the interrogators were identified as police officers; that the defendant was informed that he was under arrest; that he had the right to counsel, and that anything he said might be used against him. See page 151 of the Trial Record. Thereafter, upon inquiry, the defendant stated that he had committed the robbery that day and the previous robbery on the Monday before.

Appeal is made on two grounds. First, that there was no foundation laid for the admission of the confession; and, second, that the confession was not voluntary.

The evidence as to time and place and that defendant was advised of his rights serve as sufficient foundation. This court, in the case of *State v. Crank*, (1943 Utah), 142 P. 2d 178, where the question of the admissibility of a confession was raised, said at page 185:

“* * * In laying a foundation for offering the writing, if a written confession, or the conversation, if an oral confession, the state will of course be required to show the time and place of the conversation, or the writing and signing of the instrument, and also what is generally called a prima facie showing that it was the free and voluntary act of the accused. * * *”

The prosecutor satisfied the requirements of laying a foundation as above prescribed; the time and place were shown. That defendant was advised of his rights and that there was no evidence of compulsion or coercion suffices as a prima facie showing of voluntariness.

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